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Limited Review Report of Consolidated Interim Financial Statements

To : The Board of directors of Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) - Egypt “S.AE.”

Introduction

We have performed a limited review for the accompanying consolidated statement of financial
position of Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB)- Egypt (5.A.E) as of 31 March 2019 and the related
consolidated statements of income, other comprehensive income, cash flows, and changes in equity
for the three months then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes. Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated interim financial statements in accordance with the rules of preparation and presentation
of the banks’ financial statements issued by the Central bank of Egypt on 16 December 2008 and its
subsequent interpretive instructions, and with the related requirements of the applicable Egyptian
laws and regulations to prepare these consolidated interim financial statements, our responsibility is
to express a conclusion on these consolidated interim financial statements based on our limited
review.

Scope of limited review

We conducted our timited review in accordance with the Egyptian Standard on Limited Review
Engagements 2410, “Limited Review of Interim Financial Statements Performed by the Independent
Auditor of the Entity”. A review of consolidated interim financial statements consists of making
inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters in the bank, and
applying analytical and other limited review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than
an audit conducted in accordance with the Egyptian Standards on Auditing and consequently does
not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might
be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on these consolidated
interim financial statements.

Conclusion

Based on our limited review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the
accompanying consolidated interim financial statements do not present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the bank as of 31 March 2019, and its consolidated financial
performanee, and consolidated cash flows for the three months then ended in accordance with the
rules of preparation and presentation of the banks’ financial statements issued by the Central bank of
Egypt on 16 December 2008 and its subsequent interpretive instructions, and with the related
requirements of the applicable Egyptian laws and regulations related to the preparation of these
consolidated interim financial statements .
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Emphasis of a matter

Without qualifying our report, we draw your attention to:

1- As per the details included in note no (31) to the consolidated interim financial statements, the
banks’ management formed a potential claims provisions of EGP 1,503 Million as of 31 March

2019 (31 December 2018: EGP 1,542 Million ) which is according to bank’s external legal
advisor to cover the potential claims from Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank - UAE.

-/

/

TN
Mohamed Elmoetaz Mahmoud Mohamed Ahmed Fouad, CPA
Accountants And-Auditors Register No. (5730) Accountants And Auditors Register No. (11595)
Financial Regulatory Au’th@ﬁ‘fy Register No. (193) Financial Regulatory Authority Register No. (235)
CBE Register No. (151~ CBE Register No. (467)
Fellow of Egyptian Society of Accountants and Auditors  PricewaterhouseCoopers Ezzeldeen, Diab & Co.
Fellow of Egyptian Tax Society Public Acceurtants
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0. Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2019

Note 31 March 2019 31 December 2018
No LE 000's LE 000's

ASSETS
Cash and due from CBE 15 4,240,546 2,656,168
Due from banks 16 3,259,519 3,190,656
Financing and facilities to banks (after deducting impairmentloss) 17 260,415 269,438
Conventional financing and facilities to customers (after deducting impairment loss) 18 215,461 223,089
Islamic financing and facilities to customers (after deducting impairment loss) 18 26,081,818 23,797,412
Financial investments
- Fair value through profits and losses 1/19 37,321 27,360
- Fair value through orther comprehensive income 2/19 5,481,386 5,965,461
-Amortized cost 3/19 10,544,372 10,902,222
Investments in associates 20 86,471 86,281
Intangible assets (after deducting accumulated amortization) 21 33 386
Other assets 22 1,114,329 1,215,162
Fixed assets (after deducting accumulated depreciation) 23 734,393 751,822
Investments properties ( Net) 24 31,759 32,189
Assets Held for Sale 7,391 9,540
Financing leased assets for others 25 278,770 279410
TOTALASSETS 52,373,989 49,406,296
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Due to banks 26 266,512 2,464,132
Customers' deposits 27 44,398,529 30,888,883
Financial Derivatives 28 971 1,572
Subordinated Financings 29 1,349,020 828,952
Other liabilities 30 1,206,295 1,244,214
Other provisions 31 1,618,403 1,682,368
Defined benefits obligations 33 110,048 90,684
Deferred tax liabilities 32 40,384 32,071
TOTALLIABILITIES 48,990,162 46,241,876
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Paid up Capital 33 2,000,000 2,000,000
Paid under capiral increase 34 1,861,418 1,861,418
Reserves 35 437,502 494,192
Difference benween face value and presentvalue for subordinated financing 66,900 69,849
Accumulated Losses 36 (1,001,692) (1,284,352)
TOTALEQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BANK 3,364,128 3,141,107
Non-controlling interests 15,699 23,313
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 3,383,827 3,164,420
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 52,373,989 49,406,296
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 37 11,817,871 11,410,946

The limited review report is attached

The accompanying notes from (1) to (42) are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Mohamed Ali

Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Cairo on May 14t 2019

Mahmoud El Semien

Financial Controller



¢ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Consolidated Income Statement For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

Note 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
No LE 000's LE 000's

Income from Murabaha, Musharaka, Mudaraba and similar income 1,591,725 1,250,491
Cost of deposits and similar expenses (884,753) (683,722)
NET INTEREST INCOME 7 706,972 566,769
Fees and commissions income 139,211 141,856
Fees and commissions expenses (19,676) (16,089)
NET FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME 8 119,535 125,767
Dividend income 9 669 660
Nettradingincome 10 57,130 37,753
Administrative expenses 11 (326,870) (286,648)
Other operating expenses 12 (123,852) (24,064)
Impairment charge for credit losses 13 (40,465) (163,462)
Gains / (losses) on financial investments 4/19 1,247 2,026
Bank's share of its associate results 190 -
PROFIT BEFOREINCOME TAX 394,556 258,801
Income tax expense 14 (115,113) (102,021)
NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 279,443 156,780
Atributable to:
Equity holders of the bank 282,207 159,042
Non-controlling interests (2,764) (2,262)
NET PROFIT FOR THEPERIOD 279,443 156,780

The accompanying notes from (1) to (42) are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



0. Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income For Period Ended 31 March 2019

31March 2019 31March 2018

LE0OO's LE00O's
Net profit for the period 279,443 156,780
ltems that will not be reclassified to the Profits and Losses:
Change in fair value of investments in equity instruments at fair value through other

19,777 -
comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income items reclassified to the profits and losses:
Change in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive

28,025 -
income
Income tax related to items that will be reclassified to the profits and losses (6,082) -
Total other comprehensive income items forthe period, net of tax 41,720 -
Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 321,163 156,780
Atrributable to:
Equity holders of the bank 323,927 159,042
Non-controlling interests (2,764) (2,262)
Total comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 321,163 156,780

The accompanying notes from (1) to (42) are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



0. Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows For Period Ended 31 March 2019

Note 31 March 2019 31March 2018
No. LE000's LE 000's
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 394,556 258,801
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax o cash flows from operaring acrivities:
Depreciation and Amortization of fixed and intangible assets 11 28,685 25277
Depreciation of investment property 24 430 352
Depreciation of Financial leased assets 25 30,302 21,747
Charge / (release) impairment loss of financing and facilities to customers 18 27,560 173,111
Provisions no longer required 18 - (9,649)
Used provisions - loans provision 18 (9,397) (4,524)
Charge / (release) other provisions 31 47,904 16,238
Provisions no longer required other than loans’ provision 31 (91,039) (12,386)
Provisions used other than loans’ provision 31 (11,139) (63)
Bonds' premium and discount amortization 19 (4,392) (2,961)
Foreign currency valuation differences of loans’ provisions in foreign currencies 18 (2,761) (301)
Foreign currency valuation differences of provisions in foreign currencies other than Loans' provisions 31 (1,947) 422
Valuation differences of financial investments at FVPL 1/19 - 975
Foreign currency valuarion differences of financial investments at FVOCl in foreign currencies 2/19 1172 161
Foreign currency valuation differences of financial assets at AC in foreign currencies 3/19 7,076 992
Foreign currency valuation differences of subordinated financing - With coupon 29 (10,692) (1,505)
Foreign currency valuation differences of subordinated financing - Zero coupon 29 (16,449) 2,946
Foreign currency valuarion differences of subordinared financing - Zero coupon - Equity 5320 -
Losses / (Gains) valuation of financial invstements at FVPL 1,742 -
Charge /(release) impairment loss of due from banks 16 14 -
Charge /(release) impairment loss of financial investments at amortized cost 19 12,891 -
Charge /(release) impairment loss of euity instrument at FVOCI 19 (109) 91
Charge /(release) Impairment loss of assers reverted to bank 12 33,042 -
Charge /(release) Impairment loss of other assets 12 2,610 5,871
Charge /(release) Impairment Loss of investment properties 12 - 921
Losses / (Gains) sale of equity instruments at FVPL 10 (57) (3,430)
Losses / (Gains) sale of debtinstruments at FVOCI 4/19 (1,138) -
Losses / (Gains) sale of equity instruments at FVOCI 4/19 - (12)
Losses / (Gains) sale of equity instruments at AC 4/19 - (2,105)
Losses / (Gains) on sale of fixed assets 12 {106) (2,116)
Losses / (Gains) on sale of Investment Property 12 (140) (2,372)
Bank's Share of Associates' results (190) -
Dividends income from equity instruments at FVOCI (669) (660)
Amortization of subordinated loan using EIR method 29 8,269 7,862
Employees Benefits obligations charged during the period 158 1,357
Operating profit before changes in assets and liabilities utilized in operational activities 452,406 474,840
Net decrease (increase) in assets & liabilities
Due from banks 16 (47,523) (941,895)
Treasury bills with marurity more than 30 days (1,315,808) (3,223,935)
Financial investments at FVPL 1/19 (11,645) 21,960
Loans and Islamic facilities to customers and banks (2,343,904) (2,920,461)
Other assets 56,658 141,650
Due to banks 26 (2,197,620) 1,451,903
Customers' deposits 27 4,450,591 4,263,540
Derivatives Financial Instruments 28 (601) -
Other liabilities (47,330) 79,150
Employees Benefits obligations 38 10,206 (190)
Income tax paid (125,875) (65,571)
Net Cash flows (Used in) Operating activities (1,120451) (719,009)




¢ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows For Period Ended 31 March 2019 — continued

31 March 2019

31 March 2018

LE000's LE000's

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments to purchase of fixed assets & Branches fixtures 23 (13,081) (59,496)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 1,892 3311
Praceeds from Sale of Investment Property 140 6,138
Proceeds from Sale of Assets Held for Sale 3,779

Payments to purchase financial Leased assets 25 (29,800) (33,282)
Proceeds from sale of financial Leased assets 138 193
Praceeds from recovery of financial investments at FVOCI 1,138 (23)
Payments to purchase financial investments at AC 3/19 (371,898) (205,317)
Praceeds from recovery of financial investmentsat AC 398,464 149,638
Proceeds from dividends income 669 660
Net Cash flows (Used in) Investing activities (8,559) (138,378)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds (Paid) from subordinated financing 29 519,588
Net cash flows resulting from financing activities 519,588
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents during the period (609,422) (857,387)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the period 7120487 5,980,758
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 6,511,065 5,123,371
Cash and cash equivalents are represented in

Cash and due from CBE 15 4,240,546 3,405,191
Due from banks 16 3,259,565 2,203,169
Treasury bills 8,906,014 9,009,915
Due from banks (with maturity more than 3 months from date of acquisition) (3,118,819) (2,067,818)
Treasury bills (with maturity more than 3 months from date of acquisition) (6,776,241) (7,427,086)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 38 6,511,065 5,123,371

The accompanying notes from (1) to (42) are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity For Period Ended 31 March 2019

All amounts in EGP thousands

Paid Paid under  Legal reserve General Special General IFRS9risk  Generalrisk  Fairvalue Difference Accumulated Total Non- Tortal
up capital capital reserve reserve banking risk reserve reserve reserve between face losses controlling
increase reserve value and present interest
value for
subordinated
financing

31March 2018
Balance at1January 2018 2,000,000 1,861,418 22,878 42,522 31,640 115,587 190,095 - 28,912 81,150  (2,111,886) 2,262,316 28,007 2,290,323
Transferred to general banking risk reserve - - - - - 9,958 - - - - (9,958) - - -
Net Change in Other Comprehensive Income ltems - - - - - - - - 716 - - 716 - 716
Amortization of the difference between FV & PV for subordinated

. - - - - - - - - (2,752) 7,862 5,110 - 5,110
financing
Net profit for the period - - - - - - - - - - 159,042 159,042 (2,262) 156,780
Balance at31March 2018 2,000,000 1,861,418 22,878 42,522 31,640 125,545 190,095 - 29,628 78,398  (1,954,940) 2,427,184 25,745 2,452,929
31March 2019
Balance at 1January 2019 2,000,000 1,861,418 22,878 2,522 31,640 174,516 190,095 . 32,538 69,849  (1,284353)  3141,103 23,317 3,164,420
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 - - - - (9,092) (174,516) (190,095) 273,022 (3423) - - (104,104) - (104,104)
Balance at 1)January 2019 - adjusted 2,000,000 1,861,418 22,878 42,522 22,548 = = 273,022 29,115 69,849  (1,284353) 3,036,999 23,317 3,060,316
Transferred to general banking risk reserve = = = = = 2274 = = = = (2274) - = -
Net Change in Other Comprehensive Income ltems = = = = = = = = 45,143 = = 45,143 = 45,143
Amertization of the difference between FV & PV for subordinated

- = = = = - - - - (2,949) 8,269 5,320 = 5,320

financing
Prior years Impact of subsidiaries adjustments - - - - - - - - - - (5.541) (5,541) (854) (6,395)
Net profit for the period - - - - - - - - - - 282,207 282,207 (2,764) 279,443
Balance at31 March 2019 2,000,000 1,861,418 22,878 42,522 22,548 2,274 = 273,022 74,258 66,900  (1,001,692) 3,364,128 19,699 3,383,827

The accompanying notes from (1) to (42) are integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

1- General information
Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) - Egypt (formerly National Development Bank - a joint stock company) was incorporated as an Egyptian
joint stock company under Law No. 43/1974 and its executive regulations in the Arab Republic of Egypt. The main office of the Bank

is located at Cairo Governorate, 9 Rustom Street - Garden City, The bank is listed on the Egyptian Stock Exchange.

Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) - Egypt - An Egyptian Joint Stock Company is subject as a financial institution to the supervision and
control of the Central Bank of Egypt (CBE), and the bank complies with the provisions of Islamic Sharia'a in products provided to ADIB
clients, whether the products are investment deposits, Islamic investment Sukuk or savings accounts. (ADIB) also fulfills the client's
various financing needs by offering a variety of options such as Murabaha (Cost-Plus), Musharaka (Joint Venture) and EJara (Leasing),
as well as, providing Islamic options for Letter of Guarantee, Letter of Credit and covered cards. (ADIB) has its own Fatwa and Shari'a
Supervisory Committee, which is composed of Shari‘a jurists, qualified with banking, legal and economic knowledge, in order to issue

fatwas and legal rulings on all aspects of existing and new Islamic banking transactions.

(ADIB) was registered in the Commercial Register on April 3, 2013 by changing the bank's name from National Development Bank to

Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) - Egypt.

Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) - Egypt - an Egyptian Joint Stock Company provides corporates, retail banking and investment services
in the Arab Republic of Egypt through 70 branches, delegates and agencies employing more than 2,285 employees on the date of the
interim financial statements.

These interim financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2019 were approved by the Board of Directors on May 14, 2019

Important Definitions

The following terms shall be used in the separate financial statements and their definitions shall be as follows:

Murabaha

It is a contract under which the Bank sells to the customer in kind asset, a commodity or shares owned and held by the Bank (real or
judgment) for a selling price consisting of the purchase cost and an agreed profit margin.

Ejara

Itis a lease contract thereby the Bank (the lessor) rents a specific in-kind asset or service (owned or leased by the Bank) or entitled for
a specified period and in return for fixed rental installments. Ejara may be ended for in-kind asset by ownership of the Leasee for the
leased asset under an independent contract to transfer the ownership.

Mudaraba

Itis a contract between the Bank and the client whereby one of the two parties (the money owner) shall provide a sum of money to the
other party (Mudarib) which invests the sum in a particular project or activity and distributes the profit between the parties according
to the agreed shares in the contract. Mudarib shall bear the loss in case of infringement or default and / or violation of any of the terms

of the Mudaraba contract; otherwise, the Owner bears such loss.



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

Wakala

Itis a contract between the Bank and the client whereby one of the two parties (the Principle) shall provide for the other party (Agent)
a certain amount of money and authorized to invest according to a certain terms and conditions. The Agent's commission shall be
limited as per a lump sum that may be added to the amount of a certain percentage of profit expected as incentive profit to the Agent
for good performance.

The Agent shall bear the loss in the event of infringement, default or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Power of

Attorney contract, otherwise the Principle bears it.

Sukuk

They are value equivalent documents represent common shares in the ownership of a certain asset (leased, will be leased, whether
existing or described in the future) or in the ownership of rights arising from the sale of an existing asset after being owned by the
Sukukholders, the ownership arising from the assignment, or the ownership of projects that are managed on /Mudaraba or Company
basis. In all such cases, Sukukholders shall be owners of their common share of the leased assets, the rights or goods arising from the

assignment or the assets of the Company's projects or the / Mudaraba.

2- Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Central Bank of Egypt (CBE) basis of preparation
of the bank’s consolidated financial statements and principles of recognition and measurement as approved by its board of directors
on December 16", 2008, pertaining to the issuance of interim financial statements by the Egyptian banks during 2019 according to the
rules of preparation and presentation of financial statements of banks, as well as, the recognition and measurement basis issued by the
(CBE) dated on that date after being affected by the application of the requirements of IFRS (9) "Financial Instruments” in light of the
instructionsissued on February 26t 2019, and in light of the revised Egyptian Accounting Standards (EAS) issued during the year 2015;
related amendments and the provisions of local laws and as per of Egyptian laws and regulations related to the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements of the Bank had been prepared till 315 December 2018 using rules for the preparation and presentation of
the financial statements of banks and the recognition and measurement principles issued by (CBE) on 16t December 2008; however,
as from 1% January 2019 and based on the instructions issued by the (CBE) relevant to preparation of the financial statements of banks
in the accordance with (IFRS 9) "Financial Instruments" as of 26™ February 2019, the management has modified certain accounting

policies to conform to those instructions. The following note details the changes in accounting policies.

The subsidiaries have been fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements, which transferred to (ADIB), directly and
indirectly, by transferring more than half of the voting rights and owing the ability to control the financial and operating policies of the
subsidiaries irrespective of the type of activity. Separate financial statements of the bank may be obtained from the ADIB's

management‘



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

Amendments to the rules of preparation and presentation of the financial statements of (ADIB) issued by the (CBE) on 16t

December 2008 under the instructions of (CBE) issued on 26" February 2019

IFRS (9) - Financial Instruments

Effective from 1% January 2019, (ADIB) has adopted IFRS (9) - Financial Instruments formally after being trail applied in 2018, issued
by the (CBE) in July 2014. The requirements of this standard differ substantially from the EAS No. (26) "Financial Instruments -
Recognition and Measurement”, particularly with regard to the classification, measurement and disclosure of financial assets and
certain financial liabilities. The following is a summary of the major changes in ADIB's accounting policies resulting from the application

of IFRS (9):

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities:
Oninitial recognition, financial assets are classified as either at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income or

fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified according to the business model in which they are managed and their contractual cash flows.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost upon fulfilling the following two conditions and not measured at fair value through
profit or loss:
- Theassetis retained in a business model intended to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows
- The contractual terms of the financial assets resultin cash flows on specific dates which shall only be principal payments and
interest on the principal amount due.
Debt instruments shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only if the following conditions are fulfilled
and are not measured at fair value through profit or loss:
- Theassetisretained in a business model whose objective has been achieved through the collection of contractual cash flows
and the sale of financial assets
- The contractual terms of the financial assets result in cash flows on specific dates that shall only be principal payments and

interest on the principal amount due.

Upon initial recognition of investment in shares not held for trading, ADIB may choose irrevocably to measure subsequent changes in
fair value within other comprehensive income. This option is made on each investment separately.

All other financial assets shall be classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

In addition, upon initial recognition, ADIB may irrevocably determine a financial asset that fulfills the requirements to be measured at
amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, as being at fair value through profit or loss in case applying such

may essentially cancel or reduce the accounting mismatch that may arise otherwise.



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

Evaluation of business model:
ADIB shall evaluate the objective of the business model in which the asset is held at the portfolio level as this reflects the best way to
conduct the business and to provide information to the management.

- the stated policies and objectives of the portfolio and the mechanism of those policies, in particular to determine whether
the management strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, matching the duration of financial assets with the
duration of the financial liabilities that finance such assets or realizing of cash flows through the sale of assets;

- How to evaluate performance of the portfolio and submit report to the management of ADIB

- Risks affecting performance of the business model and financial assets held in this business model and how to manage these
risks

- The number, volume and timing of sales in previous periods, the reasons for these sales and their expectations of future sales
activity. However, information on sales activity shall not be considered separately, but rather shall be as part of a
comprehensive assessment of how ADIB's stated objective of managing financial assets and how to achieve cash flows.

Financial assets held for trading or which it’s for performance evaluated based on fair value through profit or loss because such assets
are not retained for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows only and are not held to collect contractual cash flows with the

sale of financial assets.

Impairment loss of financial assets:

In accordance with the (CBE) instructions issued on 26" February 2019, , IFRS (9) requires replacement of the realized loss model
contained in the CBE's instructions issued on 16" December 2008 with the expected credit loss model. The new impairment model
shall be applied to all financial assets in addition to certain Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.

Under IFRS (9) credit losses shall be recognized earlier than what is required under the CBE's instructions issued on 16™ December
2008. ADIB applies a three-stage approach to measure expected credit losses on financial assets registered with the amortized cost and
debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income. Assets shall be transferred between the following three stages

based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

Stage (1): Expected credit loss over 12 months

Stage (1) includes financial assets upon initial recognition without involving a substantial increase in credit risk since initial recognition
or involving relatively low credit risk.

For these assets, expected credit losses shall be recognized over (12) months and interest shall be calculated on the total book value of
the assets (without deduction of the credit provision). The expected 12-month credit loss shall be the expected credit loss that may

result from potential failures within 12 months after the date of financial statements.

Stage (2): Expected credit loss over life - with no impairment credit loss

Stage (2) includes financial assets that have substantially increased credit risk since initial recognition but no objective evidence of
impairment value. The expected credit loss on the life of the asset shall be recognized but the interest on the total amount of the asset
calculation shall continue to be recognized. The expected credit loss over life shall be the expected credit losses arising from all possible

defaults over the life of the financial instrument.

-10 -



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

Stage (3): Expected credit loss over life — impairment credit value
Stage (3) includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment as of the financial statements date; for these assets,

expected credit losses for life shall be recognized.

3- Summary of Accounting Policies
The following are the most significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the financial statements. These policies have been
consistently followed for all presented periods, except for re-measurement of financial assets and recognition of profit and loss arising

during the comparative period.
(A) Investments in Subsidiaries and Associates Companies

Consolidated Financial Statements

A /1 —Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Group. ADIB controls an enterprise upon gained, or
being entitled to, variable proceeds through its contribution to the investee and the ability to influence those proceeds through its
control of such entities. Subsidiaries shall be fully consolidated as from the date on which ADIB obtains control and the Bank ceases to

consolidate the subsidiary upon losing control.

A/1/1 Method of Acquisition

- The Bank adopts the acquisition method when processing each business combination.

- The material consideration transferred in the business combination shall be measured at fair value, which shall be calculated
as the fair values of the assets transferred by the Bank and the liabilities assumed by the Bank to the acquired asset, as well
as, the equity rights issued by the Bank. The transferred material consideration may also include the fair value of any asset or
liability arising from arrangements for a material consideration. The acquired identifiable assets and contingent liabilities
shall be measured at fair value on the date of acquisition. In each business combination, the Bank shall measure any non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary on the basis of a percentage of the recognized values of the netidentifiable assets of the
subsidiary on the date of acquisition.

- Acquisition costs shall be recognized as an expense upon incurred.

- Inabusiness combination thatis carried out on stages, the Bank shall re-measure the equity previously retained in the entity
acquired at its fair value on the date of acquisition. The gain or loss resulting from re-measurement shall be recognized in
other comprehensive income.

- Allassets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the Bank's subsidiaries shall
be fully excluded. The appropriate adjustments to the financial statements of the subsidiaries shall be made to ensure that

the financial statements are consistent with the Group's accounting policies, if required.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

A/1/2 Changes in the Percentage Held in the Controlling Interest

When the percentage of equity held by the controlling interest is changed, the Bank shall adjust the amounts recorded for the
controlling and non-controlling interests until the changes in their respective interests in the subsidiary are reflected. The
Bank shall recognize directly in the parent company's equity any difference between the amount of the non-controlling

interest adjustment and the fair value of the cash consideration paid or received.

A /1/3 Exclusion of Subsidiaries

When the Bank loses control, the Bank shall recognize any remaining investments in the subsidiaries that were at fair value
on the date that control ceases and any difference shall be recognized as profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent

company.

A /1/4 Measurement Period

The measurement period shall be the period required for the Bank to obtain all information required for the initial
measurement of the items resulting from the acquisition of the subsidiary. The measurement period shall not exceed (12)
twelve months as from the date of acquisition. In the event that the Bank obtains new information during the measurement
period relating to the acquisition, the adjustment shall be made retroactively to the amounts recognized at the date of

acquisition and the recognized goodwill shall be adjusted at the date of acquisition.

A/1/5 Basis of consolidation

The following are the Egyptian Subsidiaries whose business has been consolidated with the financial statements of ADIB

Ownership %
The Company Activity Company
(Direct & Indirecrt)

Manufacturing 86.13% National company for Glass

Commercial 65.74% National company for trading and development (ENTAD)
Commercial 55.13% Assuit Islamic company for trading and development
Financial Investment 75.73% Cairo national company for investment

Financial Lease 96.66% ADI Lease for Financial Lease

Holding 99.92% Abu Dhabi Islamic holding company

Financial Investment 99.88% Abu Dhabi Islamic Capital

Real estate investment 44.24% Abu Dhabi Islamic Properties

Financial Investment 99.89% ADIB Invest

Financial Investment 69.12% Alexandria National Company for Financial Investments
Financial Investment 51.25% Cairo National Company for Brokerage & Securities

- Upon consolidation, unrealized transactions, balances and gains arising from intra-group transactions shall be excluded. Any

unrealized losses shall not be excluded unless providing an evidence of impairment in the asset transferred. The accounting

policies of the subsidiaries shall be changed as necessary to ensure uniform policies of ADIB.

- AssuitlIslamic Company for trading and development sold in 2016 49,750 share from its owned shares in ADIB Egypt
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

A/1/6 Transactions with Minority Shareholders

ADIB treats transactions with minority shareholders as transactions with parties outside ADIB. Gains and losses arising from sale to
minority interests shall be recognized in the income statement. Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill that shall be
recognized as the difference between the paid consideration to the acquired shares and the book value for the net assets of the

Subsidiary.

A /2 Associates Companies
Associate Companies are all companies in which the Group has significant influence without extension to control. Generally, this case

shall be applied when ADIB directly or indirectly owns between 20% and 50% of the voting rights of the associate company.

A/2/1 Equity Method

Equity method is used to accounting for investments in associate companies so that the investment shall be recognized at the cost of
acquisition. Such cost shall be adjusted to the date of acquisition, which occurs during the subsequent period of acquisition from a
change in ADIB's share in the net assets of the associate companies. The profit or loss for the bank shall include ADIB’s share in profit
or loss of the associate company. The other comprehensive income statement shall include ADIB's share in the other comprehensive
income of the associate company, in return for adjusting the book value of the investment by the total share of the Bank in the changes

in equity after the date of acquisition.

A/2/2 Changes in Equity
If the Bank's equity in a subsidiary is impaired, but with remaining the significant influence, the consideration for impairment shall be
reclassified with impairment ratio in the amount of gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss

as a result of disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

A/2/3 Losses of Associates

If the Bank's share in the losses of its associates exceeds its share in those companies or is equal thereto, the Bank shall cease to
recognize the balance of the additional losses. After the Bank's share is reduced to zero, the excess losses shall be recognized as a liability
to the statement of financial position but only to the extent that the Bank incurs as legal or estimated obligations. When such companies
make profits in subsequent periods, the Bank shall resume recognition of its share in such profits but after its share of profits equals its

share of the losses that are not recognized.

A/2/4 Transactions with Associate Companies
Profits and losses arising from cross-transactions shall be recognized (upward and downward) between the Bank (including its
subsidiaries) and the associate company within the limits of the interests of other investors in the associate who have no relationship

with the Bank.

A/2/5 Inventory
Inventory items shall be evaluated as follows:

Inventories of raw materials, spare parts, packaging materials, fuel, oils and equipment inventory: on cost basis (weighted average

method) or net realizable value, which is lower.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

Finished production inventories: an industrial cost basis as per the cost lists or net realizable value, whichever is lower.

Cost shall include direct materials, direct labor and a share of indirect industrial costs and shall not include the cost of borrowing.

Production inventory under operation: based on the industrial cost of the last stage completed according to the cost lists.

Net realizable value: it is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion and the

estimated cost necessary to complete the sale.

A decrease in the value of inventory shall be recognized in net sale value and all inventory losses shall be included in the cost of sales
in the statement of income in the period in which the decline or loss occurs. The decrease reimburse in inventories resulting from the
increase in net sale value shall be recognized in the statement of income as a reduction of the cost of sales in the period in which the

reimburse occurs.

A/2/6 Real Estate Investment
Profits or losses arising from changes in the fair value of real estate investment shall be recognized as profit or loss for the period in

which they arise.

The fair value of the real estate investment is the exchange value of particular assets, whose parties have willingness to exchange, are
aware of the facts and deal with a free will. This estimation of fair value in particular shall notinclude an estimated inflation or deflation
price under special conditions or certain cases such as extraordinary financing, special arrangements by selling with the proceeds of

the lease, the special amounts or privileges granted by any party involved in the sale process.

The entity shall determine the fair value without making any deduction for transaction costs that the entity may incur in the sale or

other disposal.

A/2/7 Projects under construction
The projects under constructions shall be represented in the amounts that were expended for the purpose of establishing or purchasing
fixed assets until being ready for use in the operation. Then, subsequently transferred to the fixed assets items and the projects under

construction shall be estimated at cost after deduction of impairment.

A/2/8 System of benefits specified
The National Glass and Crystal Company grants the end of service benefits to the employees of the Company. The right to receive these

benefits shall be calculated based on the salary and the length of service of the employees.

B. Operating Sectors
The operating sectors participating in the Bank's business activities shall be reported in line with the internal reports
submitted to the management responsible for the Bank's operational decision-making, on the consideration that the
management represented in the Board of Directors, the Executive Management and the relevant committees, or what is
replaced by the foreign branches is the responsible for making operational decisions and decisions about the resources to

be allocated to the operating sectors and assess their performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

C. Reporting Sectors
An activity sector is a group of assets and processes associated with the provision of products or services that are
characterized by risks and benefits and differ from those of other sectors of activity. The geographical sector shall be engaged
in the provision of products or services within a single economic environment with risks and benefits that are related to

geographical sector operating in a different economic environment.

ADIB is divided into two main sectors: Corporate Banking Services and Retail Banking for Individual. In addition, the
Corporate Center shall be a central financing management for the Bank's core business. Other transaction management,

investment activity and other non-core activities shall be reported included the Corporate Banking Services.

For the purpose of sectors reporting in accordance with the classification of geographic regions, the Sector's profits, losses,

assets and liabilities shall be presented on a basis of branches’ locations.

Based on the fact that (ADIB - Egypt) does not have an entity to register abroad, unless otherwise stated in a specific
disclosure, these sector reporting present all ADIB investments in equity instruments and debt instruments issued by foreign
institutions, as well as, credit facilities granted by ADIB to the foreign parties based on the location of the local branch in

which such assets were registered.

D. Translation of foreign currencies

D /1 Functional and Presentation Currency

The financial statements of ADIB shall be presented using the currency of the primary economic environment in which ADIB exercises
its business (the functional currency). The Bank's financial statements shall be presented in Egyptian pounds, which is the Bank's

functional and presentation currency.

D/2 Transactions and balances in foreign currencies

The Bank's accounts shall be kept in Egyptian Pounds and transactions in other currencies shall be recorded in the financial year on the
basis of the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transaction. The balances of assets and liabilities of monetary nature in other
currencies at the end of the financial year shall be translated at the exchange rate prevailing on that date. The profit and loss resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and the differences resulting from translation shall be recognized in the profits and losses

statement and shall be included on in the following items:

® Net trading income or net income from financial instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss for trading assets
or liabilities or those classified as fair value through profit or loss based on classification of the asset or liability.

®  Among other comprehensive income items with equity, in respect of financial derivatives as eligible coverage (fulfilled to
conditions) for the cash flows or qualifying coverage of net investment.

®  Amongother comprehensive income, equity in respect of financial investments from equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

®  Other operating income (expenses) for the remaining items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

Changes in the fair value of financial instruments in foreign currencies classified as investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income shall be analyzed between differences arising from changes in the amortized cost of the instrument and
differences arising from changes in exchange rates prevailing and differences arising from changes in the fair value of the instrument.
The differences in respect of changes in amortized cost shall be recognized in the statement of profit and loss under revenues from
financings, related income and difference in exchange rate differences in other operating income (expenses). Differences relating to
the change in fair value) Fair value reserve / financial investments at fair value shall be recognized under comprehensive income of

equity through other comprehensive income.)

Valuation differences arising on non-monetary items shall include profits and losses arising from changes in fair value such as equity
instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The differences in valuation arising from equity instruments classified as financial
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income in the statement of income shall be recognized under other

comprehensive income.

E. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

E /1 Initial Recognition and Measurement

ADIB shall recognize the financial assets and liabilities on the date that the Bank becomes a party to the contractual terms of the

financial instrument.

Afinancial asset or liability shall be initially measured at fair value. For financial assets or liabilities that are not subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss, they shall be measured at fair value plus the transaction cost that is directly attributable to the

acquisition or issue.
E /2 Classification
Financial assets - applicable policy as from 1 January 2019

® Upon initial recognition, ADIB shall classify financial assets into financial assets at amortized cost, financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income or at fair value through profit or loss.
® Afinancial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if fulfilling both of the following conditions and if have not been allocated

by ADIB management upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss:

- The financial asset shall be retained in a business model whose objective is only to maintain the financial asset for the
collection of the contractual cash flows.
- The contractual terms of the financial asset at specific dates result in contractual cash flows of the asset that shall only be the

principal amount of the financial instrument and the interest.
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®  The debt instrument shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and shall not be allocated at initial

recognition at fair value through profit or loss if both of the following conditions are fulfilled:

- The financial asset shall be retained in a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell the

financial asset.

- The contractual terms of the financial asset on specific dates resultin contractual cash flows of the asset that shall not be the

debt base and the revenue.

®  Upon initial recognition of an equity instrument that is not held for trading, ADIB may make an irrevocable choice to present

subsequent changes in fair value through other comprehensive income. This is a choice for each investment separately.

®  Other financial assets shall be classified as financial investments at fair value through profit or loss.

® In addition, at initial recognition, ADIB may allocate a financial asset as measured at fair value through profit or loss, although

fulfilling the criteria for classification as a financial asset at cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, in case

performing so prevents or substantially reduces the inconsistency that may arise in accounting measurement.

Evaluation of business model

1. Debtinstruments and equity instruments shall be classified and measured as follows:

Measurement Method as per the Business Model

Financial Instrument Fair Value
Amortized Cost Through Comprehensive Income Through Profits & Loss
Equity Instruments Once irrevocable option upon initial Ordinary transaction for equity
recognition. instruments.
Debt Instruments Business model of assets Business model of assets held for the Business model of assets held for
held to collect contractual collection of contractual cash flows and trading.
cash flows. sale.
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2. ADIBshall prepare, documentand approve the business model (s) in accordance with IFRS (9) reflecting the Bank's consistent

strategy for managing financial assets and cash flows thereof as follows:

Financial Asset

Business Model

Basic Characteristics

Financial assets at

amortized cost

Business model of
Financial assets held to
collect contractual cash

flows.

Objective of the business model is to retain financial assets for
collection of contractual cash flows of the principal amount of
investment and interest.

Asale is an incidental event for the purpose of this model and
under the terms listed in the criterion of impairment in the
creditworthiness of the issuer of the financial instrument.
Fewer sales in terms of turnover and value.

The Bank makes clear and reliable documentation of each sale

transaction and its compliance with the requirements of the IFRS

(9).

Financial asset at fair
value through

comprehensive income

Business model of assets
held for the collection of
contractual cash flows

and sale.

Both the collection of contractual cash flows and sales are
complementary to achieve objective of the model.
High sales (in terms of turnover and value) as compared to the

business model retained for the collection of cash flows

Financial asset at fair
value through profits and

loss

Other business models
include (trading -
management of financial
assets at fair value -
maximizing cash flows

by selling )

Objective of the business model is not to retain the financial asset
for the collection of contractual cash flows or held to collect
contractual cash flows and sales.

Collection of the contractual cash flows is an incidental event for
objective of the model.

Management of financial assets at fair value through profit and

loss to avoid inconsistency in accounting measurement.

The Bank assesses the objective of the business model at the portfolio level where the financial asset is retained, on the consideration

that reflecting the manner in which the business is managed and the manner in which the management is provided with information.

The information shall be taken into consideration upon evaluating objective of the business model as follows:

- The documented policies, objectives of the portfolio and the implementation of these policies in practice: in particular,

whether the management strategy focuses only on the collection of the contractual cash flows of the asset and maintaining

aspecificrate of proceeds to fulfill the maturity date of the financial assets with the maturity dates of the liabilities that finance

these assets or generate cash flows through the sale of these assets.

- How to evaluate and report on portfolio performance to senior management.

- Risks affecting the performance of the business model, including the nature of the financial assets retained within that model

and the manner in which these risks are managed.
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How to determine the performance assessment of business managers (fair value, proceeds on portfolio, or both).
The periodicity, value and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such transactions, and expectations regarding future
selling activities. However, information on sales activities shall not be taken into account separately, but as part of a
comprehensive assessment of how the Bank's objective of managing financial assets and how to generate cash flows is
achieved.
Financial assets retained for trading or managed and evaluated on fair value basis are measured at fair value through profit or
loss as they shall not be retained to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets

together

Assess whether the contractual cash flows of the asset represent payments that are limited to the principal amount of the

instrument and interest

For the purpose of this valuation, the Bank determines the original amount of the financial instrument at the fair value of the
financial asset at initial recognition. The interest shall be defined as the time value of money and the credit risk associated
with the original amount over a specified period of time and other basic lending as risk and costs (such as liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as, profit margin.

To assess whether the contractual cash flows of an asset are payments that shall be limited only to the principal of the
financial instrument and interest, the Bank shall take into account the contractual terms of the instrument and this shall
include assessing whether the financial asset includes contractual terms that may change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows, thereby not fulfilling that requirement. In order to conduct such an assessment, the Bank shall consider the
following:

Potential events that may change the amount and timing of cash flows.

Leverage characteristics (interest rate, matu rity, currency type ).

Terms of accelerated payment and term extension.

Conditions that may limit the ability of the Bank to claim cash flows from certain assets.

Features that may be adjusted against the time value of money (re-setting interest rate periodically).

Financial Liabilities — applied policy as from 1% January 2019

Upon initial recognition, the Bank shall classify financial liabilities into financial liabilities at amortized cost and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss based on the objective of the Bank's business model.

Allfinancial liabilities shall be initially recognized at fair value on the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual
terms of the financial instrument.

Classified Financial liabilities at amortized cost shall be subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest rate
method.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss shall be subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
the change in the Bank's credit rating shall be recognized in other comprehensive income while the remaining amount of the

change in fair value shall be recognized in profit or loss.
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Reclassification

Financial assets shall not be reclassified after initial recognition except when - and only when - the Bank changes the business
model for managing these assets.
In all cases, reclassification shall not be conducted between the financial liabilities items at fair value through profit or loss

and financial liabilities items at amortized cost.

E /3 Exclusion

1.

Financial assets

A financial asset shall be excluded upon expiry of the contractual right period to receive cash flows from the financial asset
or upon the Bank has transferred the right to receive contractual cash flows in a transaction in which the risks and interests
of ownership are transferred substantially to the other party.

When a financial asset is excluded, the difference between the book value of the asset (or the book value of the portion of
the excluded asset), as well as, total of the consideration received (including any new asset acquired less any new liability
incurred) through statement of profit or loss and any cumulative profits or losses previously recognized in the fair value
reserve of financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income statement.

As from 1 January 2019, any accumulated profits or loss recognized in other comprehensive income statement related to
investment in equity instruments designated as investments at fair value through other comprehensive income statement
shall not be recognized in profit or loss upon exclusion of such asset. Any share that is arose or retained from the qualifying
asset for exclusion (fulfilling the exclusionary terms) shall be recognized as a separate asset or liability.

When the Bank enters into transactions by which the bank transfers assets previously recognized in the statement of financial
position but retains substantially all or almost of the risks and interests associated with the transferred asset or part thereof.
In such circumstances, the transferred asset shall not be excluded.

For transactions in which the Bank neither substantially retains nor maintains all the risks and interests with the asset
ownership but retains control of the asset. The Bank shall continue to recognize the asset within its continuing association
with the financial asset. The Bank's continuing recognition with the financial asset within its limits of association with the
financial asset. Continuing association by the Bank's shall be determined to the financial assets relevant to exposure to
changes in the asset transferred.

In some transactions, the Bank shall retain the obligation to service the transferred asset against a commission, at which point
the transferred asset shall not be recognized if the asset fulfills the exclusion conditions. An asset or liability for the service
contract shall be recognized if the service commission is greater than the appropriate amount (of the asset) or less than the

appropriate amount (obligation) to perform the service.
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2. Financial Liabilities

®  The Bank shall exclude the financial liabilities when the contracted term is excluded, canceled or terminated.

E /4 Amendments to financial assets and financial liabilities

1. Financial Assets

® |f the conditions of a financial asset are adjusted, the Bank shall assess whether the cash flows of the asset being amended
substantially are different. If the cash flows are substantially different, the contractual rights to the cash flows from the original
financial asset shall be considered expired and the original financial asset shall be excluded. A new financial asset shall be
recognized at fair value and the resulting value shall be recognized as a result of adjustment of the total book value as profit
orlossinthe profitorloss. If the amendmentis resulting from financial difficulties for the borrower, the profits shall be deferred

and presented with the accumulated impairment losses while the losses shall be recognized in the statement of profitand loss.

®  If the cash flows of an asset recognized at amortized cost are not substantially different, the adjustment shall not result in

exclusion of the financial asset.

Applied Policy before 1 January 2019

® If the terms of the financial asset have been adjusted due to financial difficulties of the borrower and the asset has not been

excluded, the impairment of the asset shall be measured using the interest rate before adjustment.

2. Financial Liabilities

The Bank shall adjust its financial liability upon its terms of financial liabilities are amended and the cash flows of the modified liability
are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability shall be recognized based on the modified terms at fair value. The
difference between the book value of the old financial obligation and the new financial liability shall be recognized under the adjusted

terms in profit and loss.

(F) Offsetting between Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
An offset shall be made between the financial assets and liabilities if there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized amounts

along with the intention to settle on a net amount basis or to receive the asset and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Revenues and expenses shall be offset only if permitted in accordance with the amended EAS or the result of profits or losses on similar

groups as a result of trading activity or the result of translation differences of balances of the assets and liabilities in foreign currencies.
G. Fair Value Measurement

The Applied Policy as from 1 )anuary 2019
The Bank shall determine the fair value on the basis that the fair value is the price to sell an asset or to be paid in order to transfer an
obligation in an orderly transaction between the market participants on the measurement date, taking into account upon measuring

the fair value of the asset or liability the characteristics of the asset and liability in the market participants considered such
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Characteristics when pricing the asset and / or liability on the measurement date. These characteristics shall include the asset status,

location and the restrictions on the sale or use of the asset to the extent that the market participants consider thereof.

®  The Bank shall use the market approach to determine the fair value of financial assets and liabilities as this approach uses
prices and other relevant information arising from market transactions involving assets, liabilities or a group of assets and
liabilities that are identical or comparable. Accordingly, the Bank may therefore use valuation techniques consistent with the
market approach, such as market multipliers derived from comparable groups. The choice of the appropriate multiplier of
range security shall require the use of personal judgment, taking into account the quantitative and qualitative factors of
measurement.

®  When the fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability may not be relied upon, the Bank uses the income method to
determine the fair value by which future amounts such as cash flows or income and expenses shall be transferred to a current
amount (deducted) as fair value measurement reflects the current market prospects about the future amounts.

®  Where the market approach or income approach to determine the fair value of a financial asset or a financial liability may
not be relied upon, the Bank shall use a cost approach to determine the fair value to reflect the amount currently being
requested for replacement of an asset in its current condition (the current replacement cost) as the fair value reflects the cost
incurred by the market participant as a buyer of the acquisition of an alternative asset has a similar benefit since the market
participant as a buyer may not pay in the original asset more than the amount paid to the benefit to exchange asset.

® Thetable below shows the methods of measuring financial assets and liabilities at fair value in the financial statements as at
31t March 2019 within the fair value hierarchy, based on input levels that shall be deemed substantial to measure the fair
value as awhole.

- Level (I) - The inputs of the first level shall represent quoted prices (un-amended) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the Bank may access on the measurement date.
- Level (Il)- The inputs of the second level shall represent all inputs other than quoted prices within the first level and
these inputs shall be noticed for the asset or liability directly or indirectly.

- Level (Il) - The inputs of the third level are the unobservable inputs of the asset or liability.
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The following table shows the change in fair value measurements of financial assets on 315" March 2019 compared to 31t December

2018.
LEQOO's

31March 2019 Level One Level Two Level Three Total
Debtinstruments at FVOCI 36,373 5,328,629 5,365,002
Mutual funds certificates at FVOCI 20,682 14,590 35,272
Equity instruments 26,059 92,374 118,433
31December 2018 Level One Level Two Level Three Total
Debtinstruments at FVOCI 36,963 5835224 5,872,187
Mutual funds certificates at FVOCI 0,599 10,084 19,683
Equity instruments 25470 75481 100,951

(G/1) Financial Instrument at Level (1)

The fair values of trading financial instruments in an active market shall be determined based on the quoted prices at the financial
statement date. The market shall be deemed active when the items in the market are similar and the usual buyers and sellers willing to
deal at any time normally. The Bank has used the declared quoted price to determine the fair value of this level. Instruments listed in

Level (I) shall include investments held for trading on stock exchanges.

(G/2) Financial Instruments at level (11)

The fair values of non-traded financial instruments in an active market shall be determined using valuation techniques. Valuation
techniques shall be mainly based on the observed inputs of the asset or liability, whether directly or indirectly. The fair value method
shall be listed in the second level if all significant inputs are observable throughout the period of the financial asset or liability. If an

important input is not observable, the financial instrument shall be listed in the third level.

The valuation techniques used in determining the fair value of a financial instrument shall include:

Quoted prices of similar assets or liabilities in active markets.

® Interest rate exchange forward contracts calculating the present value of expected future cash flows based on the observed

interest curves.

®  The fair value of future contracts for currency exchange rates using the present value of the expected cash flow value using

the future exchange rate of the relevant currency.

®  Analysis of discounted cash flows upon determining the fair value of other financial instruments.
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The Applied Policy before 1% January 2019

The fair value of declared quoted investments in active markets shall be determined on the basis of current bid prices. If there is no
active market for the financial asset or current bid prices are not available, the Bank shall determine the fair value using one of the
valuation techniques, including the use of recent neutral transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models or other
valuation techniques commonly used by the market participants. If the Bank is unable to estimate the fair value of equity instruments

classified as available for sale, their relevant value shall be measured at cost less any impairment in value.

H) Derivative instruments and hedge accounting

Derivatives shall be recognized at fair value on the date of entering into the derivative contract and shall be subsequently re-measured
at their fair value. Fair value shall be obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, recent market transactions or valuation
techniques such as discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives shall be shown in the asset

if their relevant fair value is positive, or shall be shown in the liabilities if their relevant fair value is negative.

Embedded Derivative contracts shall not be separated when the derivative is linked to a financial asset and therefore the embedded

derivative contract shall be fully classified with the associated financial asset.

The method of recognition of profits and losses arising from changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as
a hedging instrument and the nature of the hedged item. The Bank shall allocate certain derivatives to be any of the following:
1. Risk hedges for fair value of recognized assets and liabilities or confirmed associations (fair value hedges).
2. Risk hedges for the future cash flows that are highly probable to be attributed to a recognized asset or liability; or attributable
to a forecasted transaction (cash flow hedges).
Hedging accounting for derivatives designated for this purpose shall be used if the qualifying conditions for accounting are fulfilled as

hedging instruments.

Upon the transaction, the Bank shall document reliably the relationship between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as,
the objectives of risk management and strategy from entering into various hedge transactions. The Bank also shall document, upon the
hedge, on an ongoing basis, in order to assess whether the derivatives used in hedge transactions are effective in fulfilling changes in

the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

H/1 Fair Value Hedges

Changes in the fair value of designated derivatives eligible for fair value hedges are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, with

any changes in fair value attributable to the risk of the hedged asset or liability.
The effective changes in the fair value of interest rate exchange contracts and related hedged items shall be recognized under "net

interest income from proceeds”. The effective changes in the fair value of future currency contracts shall be recognized under "net

income from investments at fair value through profit or loss.
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The ineffectiveness in all contracts and related hedged items in the preceding paragraph shall be recognized under "net income from

financial investments at fair value through profit or loss"

If hedge no longer fulfills the conditions for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the book value of the hedged item that is accounted
for in the amortized cost method shall be amortized by referring to profit and loss over the period to maturity. Recognition of equity

shall be continued through adjustments to the book value of the hedged equity instrument until exclusion thereof.

H/2 Cash Flow Hedges

In the other comprehensive income statement, the effective portion of changes at the fair value of designated derivatives eligible for
cash flow hedges shall be recognized. Profits and losses relating to the ineffective portion of the statement of profit and loss shall be

recognized immediately in "net income from financial investments at fair value through profit or loss.”
Accumulated amounts in other comprehensive income statement shall be transferred to the statement of profit or loss in the same

period in which the hedged item has an impact on profit or loss. Profits or losses relating to the effective portion of currency exchanges

and options shall be taken to "net income from financial investments at fair value through profit or loss."
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When a hedging instrument is due or sold, or if hedge no longer fulfills the conditions for hedge accounting, profits or losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income at that time are recognized in other comprehensive income items and shall be recognized
in the statement of profits and loss when the expected transaction shall be recognized. If the transaction is no longer expected to occur,

then the gain or loss accumulated in other comprehensive income shall be immediately transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

H/3 Derivatives not eligible to hedge accounting

Profits and losses shall be recognized in the statement of profits or loss in "net income from financial investments at fair value through
profit or loss” with changes in the fair value of derivatives that are not eligible for hedge accounting and shall be recognized in profit or
loss as "net income from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” by profits and loss arising from changes in fair value

of derivatives managed in association with the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
I. Interest Income and Expense

- Interest Income and Expense shall be recognized in the statement of profit or loss under "proceeds from financing and similar
income” or "the cost of deposits and similar costs” using the effective interest rate method of all financial instruments bearing
interest other than those classified for trading or classified at fair value through profit and losses.

- According to the effective interest rate method, the amortized cost of a financial asset or liability shall be calculated and the
interest income or interest expense shall be recognized over the life of the instrument. The effective interest rate shall be the rate
used to discount expected future cash flows to be paid or collected during the expected life of a financial instrument or, if
appropriate, a shorter period to accurately reach the book value of a financial asset or liability. Upon calculating the effective
interest rate, the Bank shall estimate the cash flows taking into account all the terms of the instrument contract (such as early
repayment options) but shall not take into account future credit losses*. The calculation method shall include all fees paid or
received between the parties to the contract which shall be deemed a part of the effective interest rate shall include the
transaction cost and any incentives or deductions.

- Upon the classification of finance or receivables in the impaired financing and debts (phase Ill), its interest income shall not be
recognized and recorded in marginal records outside the financial statements and shall be recognized in the revenues according
to the cash basis, as follows:

®  Upon collection, after full arrears have been recovered pertaining to consumer finances and real estate finance for personal
housing and micro finance for economic activities.

®  Relevant to the funds granted to the institutions, the cash basis shall also be applied, where the calculated interest which is
later calculated according to the terms of the loan scheduling contract until the repayment of 25% of the scheduled
installments and at a minimum regularity of one year. If the customer continues to be regularized, the calculated interest shall
be credited to the outstanding loan balance (interest on the marginal income to regular scheduling balance) without the
marginal balance before scheduling which is not included in the revenues until the full balance of the loan is settled in the

balance sheet before the scheduling.
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J. Fees and Commission Income

- Due fees for a banking transaction, loan service or facilitation shall be recognized as part of the revenues upon service
performance. Revenues of fees and commission relating to the impaired financing or debt shall only be recorded in the marginal
records outside the financial statements and shall be recognized in revenues on a cash basis upon recognition of revenue as per
item (2- 1) for fees that shall be an integral part of the effective interest of the financial asset in general to be accounted for as an

adjustment to the effective interest rate.

- Association fees on financing shall be deferred if there is a reasonable probability that these funds will be used on the basis that
the Bank's association fees shall be considered as compensation for the continued intervention to acquire the financial
instrument; and then adjusting the effective interest rate on the loan shall be recognized. Upon termination of the association
period without issuing the loan by the bank, fees shall be recognized in the revenues at the end of the term of the association. If
there is no probability that these funds shall be used, the association fees shall be recognized on the basis of the relative time

distribution over the period of the association.

- Feesrelating to debt instruments that are measured at fair value shall be recognized in the revenue upon initial recognition. The
co-financing fees of promotion shall be recognized as revenue when the promotion is completed and the bank does not retain

any part of the loan or the bank retains a portion with the effective interest rate available to other participants

- Feesand commissions resulting from the negotiation or participation in the negotiation of a transaction in favor of the third party
shall be recognized in the statement of profits or losses, such as the purchase of shares, other financial instruments, the
acquisition or sale of the enterprises upon completion of the transaction concerned. Administrative consulting fees and other
services shall be usually recognized on a time proportionate basis over the course of service delivery. Fees for managing financial
planning and custody services provided over long periods of time shall be recognized throughout the period in which the service

is performed.

K. Dividends Income
- Dividends on the Bank's investments in equity instruments and the like upon the right to collect shall be recognized in the

statement of profit or loss.

L. REPOs & Reverse REPOs
- Sold financial instruments under repurchase agreements shall be presented with treasury bills and other government
securities in the financial position. The difference between the selling price and the repurchase price shall be recognized

as proceeds payable over the term of the agreements using the effective interest rate method.
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M. Impairment of financial assets

The applied policy as from 1% January 2019

Impairment losses shall be recognized for the expected credit losses of the following financial instruments that are not measured at fair

value through profit or loss:

I Financial assets that represent debt instruments.

Il. Due debts.

M. Contracts for financial guarantees.

IV. Financial associations and similar debt instruments associations.

®  Impairment value losses on investments in equity instruments shall not be recognized

®  Debtinstruments related to retail banking products and Micro, small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs)
1. The Bank shall consolidate debt instruments related to retail banking products and micro and small enterprises on the basis
of groups with similar credit risk based on the type of banking product.
2. The Bank shall classify debt instruments within the retail banking product group or micro and small enterprises into three

stages based on the following quantitative and qualitative criteria:
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Main identifier
(Quantitative

standards)

identifier
(Qualitative

Standards)

Main identifier

(Quantitative

standards)

Addirtional idenrifier

(Qualitative Standards)

Main identifier
(Quantitative

standards)

Classifying the
financial Stage (1) Stage (I1) Stage (1)
instrument
Additional

Additional identifier
(Qualitative

Standards)

Lowe-risk financial

instruments

No Past Dues

Concluded
under

acceptable risks

Significant
increase in credit

risk

Delayis more than

30 days from the

date of maturity of

the contractual

installments.

If the borrower encounters
one or more of the following
events at |east:

- The borrower submits a
request to convert short-term
and long-term payments due
to negarive effects on the
borrower's cash flows

- Cancellation of a direct
farility by the bank due to the
high credit risk of the
borrower.

- Extension of the deadline for
repayment at the borrower’s
request.

- Previous repeared arrears
over the previous 12 months.
- Future/ technological/
legislative / economic
changes affecting the future

cash flows of the borrower

Impaired financial

instruments

If the borrower delays
more than 90 days to
pay its contractual

installments

N/A
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®  Debtinstruments related to SMEs

1. The Bank shall consolidate debt instruments relating SME enterprises on the basis of similar credit risk groups depending on

borrowing client unit (ORR).

2. The Bank shall classify customers within each group into three stages based on the following quantitative and qualitative

criteria:
Classifyingthe
financial Stage (1) Stage (1) Stage (Ill)
instrument
Additional identifier
Main identifier | Additional identifier |  Main identifier Main identifier
Additional identifier {Qualitative
(Quantitative (Qualitative (Quantitative (Quantitative
(Qualitative Standards) Standards)
standards) Standards) standards) standards)
Low-risk financial Concluded under
No Past Dues
instruments acceptable risks
If the borrower on the follow-up list and Jor
financial instrument counters one or more of
the following events at least:
- Asignificant increase in the interest rate on
the financial asset as a result of the increase
Credit risk
Financial
- Significant adverse changes in activity and
instruments on Delayismorethan30 |. . e
financial or economic conditions in which the
whicha daysfromthe dateof  |horrower operates.
substantial maturity of the - Request of rescheduling.
. . . . - Significant negative changes in actual or
increase in credit contractual installments
expected operating results or cash flows.
risk occurred

- Future economic negative changes effecting
future cash flows on the borrower.

- Early signs of cash flow/ liquidity problems
such as delays in servicing creditors / trade

finance.
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Classifying the
financial

instrument

Stage (1)

Stage (II)

Stage (1)

Main identifier
(Quantitative

standards)

Additional
identifier
(Qualitative

Standards)

Main identifier
(Quantitative

standards)

Additional
identifier
(Qualitative

Standards)

Main identifier
(Quantitative

standards)

Additional identifier
(Qualitative

Standards)

Impaired financial

instruments

Delayis more than 90
days from the dare of
maturity of the
contractual

installmentss

When the borrower fails to
meet one or more of the
following criteria,
indicating that the
borrower is facing
significant financial
difficulty:

- The death or disability of
the borrower.

- The borrower defaults
financially

- Initiate scheduling as a
result of deterioration of
the borrower's
creditworthiness.

- Non-compliance with
financial commitments.

- The disappearance of the
active market of the
financial asset or one
financial instruments of
the borrower due to

financial difficulties.

- Financial assets that are created or acquired by the Bank and include a high rate of credit risk shall be classified as the

Bank's low-risk financial assets at the first recognition of the stage (Il) directly.
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Measurement of expected credit losses

- The Bank shall evaluate the portfolios of debt instruments on a quarterly basis at the portfolio level for all financial assets of
individuals, institutions, SMEs, and on an interim basis with respect to the financial assets of institutions classified as a follow-
up to monitor the related credit risk thereof. The third party shall review on an interim basis and the criteria used to determine

the significantincrease in credit risk shall be reviewed and monitored periodically by the credit risk management.

- The Bankshall, at the date of the financial statements, estimate the impairment loss for financial instruments at a value equal
to the expected credit losses over the life of the financial instrument except for the following cases where the provision for

impairment losses shall be estimated at a value equal to the expected credit losses over the (12) twelve months:

- Adebtinstrument that has been identified as having a low credit risk at the financial statements date (debt instruments in the

stage (1))

- Other financial instruments whose credit risk at the reporting date has not increased significantly since the initial recognition

(debt instruments in the stage (I).

- The Bankshall consider the expected credit losses to be a weighted probability estimated of the expected credit losses, which

shall be measured as follows:

- The expected credit losses on financial assets shall be measured at the stage (I) based on the present value of the total cash
deficit calculated on the basis of the historical probability of default scenarios and adjusted by the average forecasts of
macroeconomic indicators for the future (12) twelve months multiplied by the value at default, taking into account the
expected recovery rates upon calculating the loss rate for each group of debt instruments with similar credit risk. As expected
credit losses shall take into account the amount and timing of payments, the credit losses arise even if the enterprise expects
full repayment but later on after the debt becomes payable under contractual terms. The expected credit losses over (12)
twelve-month period shall be deemed a part of the losses which are expected to arise over the life of the asset and which result

from defaults on a financial instrument within (12) twelve months after the date of the financial statements.

- The expected credit losses on financial assets in the stage (Il) shall be measured based on the present value of the total cash
deficit calculated based on the historical probability of default scenarios adjusted by the average forecasts of the
macroeconomic indicators for the life of the financial asset multiplied by the value at default, taking into account the expected

recovery rates upon calculating the average loss for each group of debt instruments with similar credit risk.

- Impaired financial assets at the financial statements date shall be measured as the difference between the book value of the

asset and the present value of the expected future cash flows.
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®  Upon calculating the specific loss rates, the Bank shall calculate the expected recovery rates from the presentvalue of the expected

cash flows either from cash and in kind collateral; or historical or expected future payment rates as follows:

- For debt instruments classified in stage (1), the value of cash collateral and cash equivalents represented in cash and other
financial instruments that may be easily converted into cash within a short period of time (3 months or less) and without any

change (loss) in value as a result of credit risk after deducting ratio of 10% against the unexpected circumstances.

- For the debt instruments classified in the stages (Il) and (1I1), only the types of guarantees shall be considered in accordance
with the rules issued by the (CBE) dated on 24/5/2005 regarding the determination of the creditworthiness of the customers
and formation of the provisions, while the value of such guarantees shall be calculated according to the rules of preparing and
presenting the financial statements of the banks, the recognition and measurement bases issued by the (CBE) dated on
December 16, 2008, after deducting ratio of 10% and 20% of the cash collateral and present value of the future cash flows of

the in-kind collateral, respectively.

- Fordebtinstruments held by banks operating outside Egypt, the probability rates of default shall be determined on the basis
of the credit rating of the head quarter of the bank operating outside of Egypt in no more than the credit rating of the country

of the head quarter. The loss rate shall be calculated at 45%.

- Asforthe instruments held by the banks operating inside Egypt, the probability of default shall be calculated on the basis of
the bank's classification by the external international rating institutions. The branches of the Egyptian banks abroad shall be
treated as the head center. The branches of the foreign banks operating in Egypt shall be treated as their headquarters, and

the loss rate shall be calculated at ratio of 45%

- For debtinstruments issued by entities otherwise the banks, the probability of default shall be calculated on the basis of the
rating of the issuer entity for the financial instrument by the external international rating institutions and no more than the

credit rating of the issuing country in the case of external entities and the loss rate shall be calculated at ratio of 45%

- Impairment provision on financial assets recognized in the financial position statement shall be deducted from the value of
the financial asset at the time the statement of financial position is resented, while the impairment provision for financing
commitments, financial guarantee contracts and contingent obligations shall be recognized under other provisions of the

financial liabilities position.

- Forfinancial guarantee contracts, the Bank shall estimate the expected credit loss on the basis of the difference between the

expected payments to the guarantee holder less any other amounts that the Bank expects to recover.
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Upgrading from the Stage (Il) to the Stage (1)

- Thebankshall not transfer the financial asset from the stage (I1) to the stage (1) unless all the quantitative and qualitative elements
of the stage (I) have been fulfilled and the total cash receipts from the financial asset shall be equal to or greater than the total
amount of the installments due to the financial asset, if any.

- Due proceeds and lapsing of (3) three consecutive months to fulfill the requirements.

Upgrading from the Stage (111} to the Stage (1I)

- The bank shall not transfer the financial asset from the (lll) to the stage (1l) - including the scheduling - only after fulfilling all the

following conditions:

1. Completion of all quantitative and qualitative criteria of the stage (l1).
2. Payment of 25% of the due balances of the financial assets, including the due / reserved interest, as the case may be.

3. Regularity in paying the principal amount of the financial asset and its due interest for at least 12 continuous months.

Restructured financial assets:

- Ifthe terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified; or a new financial asset is replaced by a current financial asset due to
the financial difficulties of the borrower, an assessment shall be made as to whether the financial asset shall be recognized and

the expected credit losses shall be measured as follows:

" Ifthe restructuring shall not resultin exclusion of the current asset, the expected cash flows from the adjusted financial asset shall
be used upon calculating the cash deficit in the current asset. The expected credit losses shall be calculated on the life of the
instrument.

| |

If the restructuring shall result in exclusion of the current asset, the expected fair value of the new asset shall be deemed as final
cash flows from the current financial asset upon exclusion. This value shall be used to calculate the cash deficit from the current
financial asset, which is deducted from the expected date of the asset exclusion at the balance sheet date using the original

effective interest rate of the current financial asset.
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Presentation of the Expected Credit Losses Provisions in the Statement of Financial Position

- The provision for credit losses shall be presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

®  Financial assets measured at amortized cost as a deduction from the total book value of the assets.

®  Financial associations and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision in general.

®  When the financial instrument includes both the used and unused permissible limit of the instrument and the Bank may not
determine the expected credit losses of the unused portion separately, the Bank shall present a provision for the consolidated
loss of the used and unused portion, and the aggregate amount shall be presented as a deduction from the total book value
for the used portion. Any increase in the loss provision shall be presented on the total amount of the used portion as a
provision of the unused portion.

®  Aprovision forimpairment of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income shall not be recognized in
the statement of financial position because the book value of such assets is their fair value. However, the provision for

impairment shall be disclosed and recognized in the fair value reserve.

Debt Write-off

Debt shall be written off (in part or in whole) when there is no realistic possibility of repayment of the debt. Generally, when the Bank
determines that the borrower does not have the assets, resources or sources of income that may generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the debts to be written off; however, the impaired financial assets may continue to be subject to follow-up in the Bank's procedures to
recover the due amounts. The deduction shall be charged to the allowance account for debts written off, whether or not they have

provision, and any collections for previously written off debts shall be added to the provision of impairment.
N. Intangible Assets
N/1Computer Programs (Software)

- Expenses associated with the development or maintenance of computer software shall be recognized as an expense in the
statement of profit and loss upon incurred and shall be recognized as an intangible asset in the expenses directly related to specific
programs under the control of the Bank to be expected to generate economic benefits exceeding a cost of more than one year, as
well as, including the direct expenses related with working staff in the program development team, in addition to, an appropriate
share of the related general expenses.

- The cost of development as expenses which lead to the increase or expansion of the performance of the computer programs
according to the original specification shall be recognized to be added to the cost of the original programs when all the following
conditions shall be fulfilled:

®  The bank's intention and ability to complete and use those programs; and

® Development-related expenditures may be reliably measured.
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- The cost of computer programs recognized as an asset shall be amortized over the period expected to be utilized on the following

shift

Asset type Life span/ deprecation rate

Computer software 3 years

N /2 Other Intangible Assets

- Otherintangible assets shall be all other intangible assets other than goodwill and computer software.

- Otherintangible assets shall be recognized at the cost of acquisition and shall be amortized using straight line method or on the
basis of the economic benefits expected thereof over their estimated productive life. For assets that do not have a specific useful
life, they shall not be amortized; however, value of the impairment (if any) shall be tested and the impairment value shall be

transferred to the statement of profits and losses.

0. Fixed Assets

- The land and buildings shall be mainly represented in headquarters, branches and offices. All fixed assets shall be presented at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost shall include expenses directly attributable to the

acquisition of fixed assets.

- Subsequent expenditure shall be recognized in the book value of an asset, or as an independent asset, where appropriate, if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset may flow to the Bank and this cost may be reliably measured.

Maintenance and repair expenses shall be charged in the period to be charged under other operating expenses.

- Landshall notbe depreciated and the depreciation of other fixed assets shall be calculated using straight line method to distribute

the cost to reach the residual value over the productive life, as follows:

Asset type Life span/ deprecation rate

Premises 20 years
Decorations and fittings 20 years
Integrated automation systems and equipment 5years
Means of transportation 5years
Furniture and installations 10 years
Other equipment 10 years
Portable devices / Mobiles 1year

-36-



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

- The residual value and useful life of fixed assets shall be reviewed at each date of the financial statements and shall be adjusted,
if necessary. Assets that are depreciated shall be reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the book value may not be recoverable. Book value of the asset shall be immediately reduced to its recoverable value if the book

value exceeds its recoverable value.

- Therecoverable value shall represent the net selling value of the asset or value of the used asset, whichever is greater. The profits
and losses on exclusion of fixed assets shall be determined by comparing the net proceeds with the book value. The profits (loss)

shall be included in other operating revenues (expenses) in the statement of profit and loss.

P. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

- Assets with an infinite productive life shall not be depreciated and shall be tested for impairment annually. Impairment of assets
that are depreciated shall be reviewed whenever there are events or changes in circumstances indicating that the book value may
not be wholly or partly recoverable.

- Impairment loss is recognized and deduction of the asset value with the exceeding amount of the book value than the recovery
value of the asset shall be reduced. The recovery amount shall represent the net selling value of the asset or used value of the
asset, whichever is greater. For the purpose of estimating impairment, the asset shall be linked to the smallest possible cash-
generating unit. The non-financial assets that are impaired shall be reviewed for impairment, in order to determine if recovery of

impairment to the statement of profit and loss at the date of each financial statement.

Q. Lease

- The financial lease shall be accounted for in accordance with Law 95 /1995 concerning the financial lease if the contract grants
the leasee the right to purchase the asset on a specified date and at a specified value, if the contract period represents at least 75%
of the estimated useful life of the asset at least or if the present value of the total lease payments represents at least 90% of the

asset's value. The other leases shall be deemed operating leases contracts.

Q/1leasing

- Forfinance leasing contracts, the cost of the lease, including the cost of maintenance of the leased assets, shall be recognized as
an expense in the statement of profit and loss for the year in which it occurred. If the Bank decides to exercise the right to purchase
the leased assets, the cost of the acquisition right shall be capitalized as a fixed asset to be amortized through the remaining useful

life of the expected useful life of the asset in the same manner applied on the for similar assets.

- Payments shall be recognized under the operating lease account less any deductions received from the lessor as being part of

expenses in the statement of profit and loss on straight line method over the term of the contract.
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Q /2 leasing

wn

For finance leased assets, the current value of the finance lease debt shall be recognized as a financial assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position in return for exclusion of the leased assets. The differences shall be listed the statement of profit

and loss in other operating revenues / expenses.

Where there is objective evidence that the Bank may not be able to collect all or part of the receivables of the finance lease, the
finance lease shall be reduced to the expected recovery value as if being the assets of the debt instruments. An impairment

provision thereof shall be calculated in the same manner and methods used for debt instruments.

Operational leases shall be recognized as fixed assets in the statement of financial position and shall be amortized over the
estimated useful life of the asset in the same manner as for similar fixed assets. Lease revenues shall be recognized less any

deductions granted to the lessee on straight line method over the term of the contract in the statement of profitand loss.

. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include balances whose maturity shall
not exceed three months as from the date of acquisition and shall include cash and balances with the Central Bank outside the

mandatory reserve ratio and balances at banks and other government securities.

. Other provisions

Other provisions shall be recognized if there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and this is likely
to require the use of the Bank's resources to settle these liabilities, with the possibility of making a reliable estimation of the value

of such liabilities.

Where there are similar liabilities, the external cash flow that may be used for settlement shall be determined by taking into
account this set of liabilities. The provision shall be recognized even if there is little likelihood of an outflow of cash for an item

within that group.

Provisions that have been wholly or partially eliminated under other operating revenues (expenses).

The current value of the estimated payments to be made to settle the liabilities specified for payment shall be measured to be paid
after one year as from the date of the financial position using an appropriate rate for the settlement of the liability - without being

affected by the applicable tax rate - which reflects the time value of the cash and, if the period is less than one year, the estimated

value of liability shall be calculated unless their impact is materially calculated at present value.
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T. Commitments of Financing and Financial Guarantee contracts

- Financial guarantees represent contracts in which the bank shall be guarantor or guarantor of current financing or accounts
receivable in front of the entities. It requires the bank to make certain payments to compensate the beneficiary for loss incurred
due to failure of the debtor when paymentis due in accordance with the terms of the debt instrument. These financial guarantees

shall be provided to banks, financial institutions and other entities on behalf of the Bank's customers.

- Associations on financing are the associations under which the Bank shall grant credit on determined terms in prior and thus
guarantees shall include the unused portions of the credit limits granted within the amounts expected to be used by the Bank in
the future. The financial guarantee contracts and associations of granting finance at interest rates below the market price shall be
initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value on the date of granting the guarantee. The initially recognized fair value

shall be amortized over the life of the guarantee / associations.

- Insubsequent measurement, the Bank's obligation under the guarantee / associations shall be measured as follows:
®  Asfrom 1% January 2019: the amortized value or the impairment loss value, which is greater.
® Before 1 January 2019: on the basis of the first measurement amount, less the calculated amortizing to recognize the
insurance fees in the statement of profit and loss on straight line method over the life of the guarantee, or the best estimate
of the payments required to settle any financial obligation due to the financial guarantee / associations at the date of the
statement of financial position, which is greater. Such estimates shall be determined by experience in similar transactions
and historical losses, supporting by management judgment.

- Duringthe period /year, the Bank has not made any associations on finance measured at fair value through profit or loss.

- Forother associations on finance:
®  Asfrom 1% )January 2019: The Bank shall recognize impairment losses.

®  Before 1% January 2019: The Bank shall recognize provision if such contracts shall be deemed incurring losses.

- Liabilities arising from financial guarantee contracts shall be recognized in the provisions. Any excess of the liability arising from
the financial guarantee shall be recognized in the statement of profit and loss under other operating revenues (expenses) on the

statement of profitand loss.

- The calculated provision for associations for financing shall be recognized as part of the provision for impairment of financing for
each debt, to the extent that it equals the value of the loan. Any increase in the provision for associations over finance shall be

recognized in the statement of financial position.
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U. Obligations of Retirement Benefits

U / 1 Staff Fund

- On1%uly 2013, the Bank established a special social insurance fund (the Fund) under Law No. 54 /1975, "Special Insurance Funds
and its Executive Regulations. The Bank registered the Fund on 14" January 2014 and the Fund's registration number with the
Financial Supervisory Authority (884). The Fund's work began on 1% April 2014 and the provisions of this Fund and its

amendments shall apply on all employees of the Head quarter of the Bank and its branches in the Arab Republic of Egypt.

- The Bank shall be obliged to pay to the Fund the contributions due for each month calculated in accordance with the regulations
of the Fund and its amendments. The Fund shall be financed in general through monthly contributions and some other resources

set forth in the regulations of the Fund.

- Payment of insurance benefits in the case of termination of service due to the member's retirement age, death, whole permanent
disability or partial permanent disability permanent from the service. In the event that the term of the membership is less than
three years, the member of the Fund shall be paid the final balance of his account corresponding to the contributions paid to him

by the Fund on the date of termination of service or membership.
U / 2 System of Specific Benefits for the Medical Care of the Senior Staff during the Period of Service and after Retirement

- TheBankshall apply the system of medical participation specified for the senior employees during the service and after retirement.
The recognized obligation on the date of the balance sheet in respect of the specified benefit systems shall present value of the
benefit obligation specified at the balance sheet date after deduction of the fair value of the assets as per the regulation, the
deduction (addition) of unrealized actuarial profit (loss) adjustments and the cost of additional benefits relating to past service

periods.

- The estimated benefit systems (expected future cash flows) shall be calculated by an independent actuarial expert using the
estimated additional unit method. The current value of the liability system shall be determined by discounting these expected
future cash flows using interest rate of the relevant corporate bonds with high quality or interest rate on the governmental bonds

in the same currency used for payment of benefits upon maturity of the pension benefits.

- The profit (loss) arising from adjustments and changes in actuarial estimates and assumptions shall be calculated. These profit
shall be deducted from (loss shall be added to) the income statement if not exceeding 10% of the value of the assets of the
regulation or 10% of the specified benefit obligation, whichever is greater. In case of increasing profits (loss) for this ratio, such
increase shall be deducted from (added to) the income statement over the remaining average working years.

- Pastservice costs shall be recognized directly in the statement of income on administrative expenses, unless the changes to the
pension list are conditional on the employees remaining in the service for a specified period of time (Vesting period). In this case,

the previous service costs shall be amortized using straight line method over the period of maturity.
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V. Borrowing

The Bank's loans shall be initially recognized at fair value less costs to obtain the loan. The loan shall be subsequently measured
atamortized cost. The difference between the net proceeds and the value to be fulfilled over the borrowing period using effective

interest method shall be charged on the statement of profits and losses.

T. Comparative Figures

The financial assets and financial liabilities were reclassified in comparative figures to conform to the presentation method in the
separate financial statements for the current period to apply IFRS (9) which was first applied and not re-measured in accordance

with the CBE's instructions issued on 26th February 2019.

W. Income Taxes

Income tax on profit or loss for the year shall include both current and deferred tax and shall be recognized in the income
statement except for income tax relating to other comprehensive income items recognized directly in other comprehensive

income statement.

Income tax shall be recognized on the basis of net taxable profit using the tax rates applicable at the balance sheet date in addition

to tax adjustments for previous years.

Deferred taxes arising from temporary differences between the book value of assets and liabilities shall be recognized in
accordance with the accounting principles and their value in accordance with the tax basis. The deferred tax shall be determined
based on the expected method of realization or settlement of the values of assets and liabilities using tax rates effective at the

balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets shall be recognized when there is a reasonable probability that future taxable profits to be realized through
which the asset may be utilized. The deferred tax assets shall be reduced by the value of the portion that may not be realized for
the expected tax benefit over the following years. However, if the expected tax benefit increases, the deferred tax assets shall be

increased within the limits of the previous decrease.
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4. Financial Risk Management

- The Bank is exposed to a variety of financial risks, taking into consideration that the risk shall be the basis of financial activity.
Some risks or combination of risks shall be analyzed, evaluated and managed together. Therefore, the Bank aims to achieve the
appropriate balance between risks and returns to reduce the potential negative impacts on financial performance of the bank. The
most important types of financial shall represented in credit risk and market risk. Market risk shall include foreign exchange risk,

interest rate risk and other price risk.

- Risk management policies shall be developed to identify and analyze risks to establish and control risk limits, to monitor risks and
to adhere to limits through reliable methods and up-to-date information systems. The Bank shall regularly review and adjust risk

management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and services and the best of modern applications.

- Risk management shall be managed by both the Risk Committee and the Market Risk and Credit Risk Management, in light of the
policies adopted by the Board of Directors. The risk management shall provide written principles for risk management as a whole,
as well as, written policies covering specific risk areas such as credit risk, foreign exchange risk, proceeds rate risk, use of derivative
instruments, and non-derivative financial instruments. In addition, the Risk Committee shall be responsible for the interim review

of risk management and the control environment independently.

- Risk Management Strategy

- The Bank shall practice its activities through business lines that generate many risks that may vary in terms of frequency, strength
and fluctuation. Therefore, the Bank shall take measures to ensure the effective management of these risks, including increased
ability to standardize countering risks and risk identifiers, to develop core risk management competencies, and to implement an
efficient and high-quality risk management structure.

The main objectives of the Bank's risk management framework shall be as follows:

- Contribute to the development of the Bank's various lines of business to reach an optimum level of public risk.

- Ensuring the continuity of the Bank through the implementation of a high quality risk management infrastructure.

- In determining the Bank's overall risk appetite, the Bank's management has taken into account various considerations and
variables, including:
®  The relative balance between risk and proceeds for the Bank's various activities.
®  The degree of sensitivity of profits to business cycles and credit and economic cycles.

Access to achieve a parallel package of profits flows well
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Risk Management Governance and Risk Management Principles

The Bank's risk management governance shall be based as follows:

1. Strong management intervention at all levels of the organization, starting from the Board of Directors to the management of
field task forces responsible for operations.
2. Anintegrated framework for internal procedures and guidelines.
3. Continuous monitoring by business lines and supporting functions, as well as, by an independent Risk Control Body and
compliance with rules and procedures.
Risk and audit committees within the Board shall be more specifically responsible for examining the compatibility of the internal

framework in order to monitor risks and adherence to the rules.
Risk Categories:

The risks associated with the Bank's banking activities shall include:

4/1 Credit Risk

- Credit risk shall represent potential losses arising from the possibility that the borrowers or counterparties failed to fulfill their
obligations under the contractual terms. Credit risk arises mainly from due from bank balances, financing and facilities to banks,
individuals, SMEs enterprises, micro-enterprises and associations related to such activities. Credit risk may also arise from
supporting financing / credit guarantees such as credit options (Credit Default Swap) financial guarantee contracts, letters of credit

and letters of guarantee.

- TheBankshall also be exposed to creditrisk from investment activities in debt instruments and positions outstanding from trading
and derivative activities.

- Creditriskshall be the mostimportant risk to the Bank's activity and therefore the Bank manages its credit risk exposures carefully.
Management and control of the Bank's credit risk shall focus on the retail Credit Risk Management Group and the Risk
Management Group, which reports to the Risk Management Committee and Senior Management, Heads of Operation

Department and BOD on interim basis.

4/1/1Credit Risk Measurement

Financing and Facilities to Banks and Customers (including Associations and Financial Guarantees)

- The estimated exposure to credit risk for purpose of credit risk management is complex, requiring the use of statistical and
electronic models, as credit risk exposure varies with changes in market conditions and other economic aspects in a complex and
rapid manner. Exposure of credit risk changes with changes in the level, value, time of expected cash flows and over time. The
credit risk assessment of the asset portfolio therefore shall require further estimates of the probability of default and related loss
rates. The Bank shall measure the credit risk losses using the un-fulfillment of the contractual obligations probability of default

(on the basis of the book value of the financial instrument at the date of the failure (Exposure at Default) and the loss given default.
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Categories of Internal Rating of the Bank

Classification Classification rating
Stage (1) Good Debts

Stage (1) Special Follow-up
Stage (I) Bad Debts

Classification of the Credit Risks

The Bank shall assess the probability of default on each client / association group / credit product, using methods to classify customers
in different categories, taking into account the minimum rating in accordance with the CBE's instructions on determining the
creditworthiness of customers and the formation of provisions issued during 2005. Accordingly, the Bank shall use a group of models
and methods that are internally designed models and valuation methods for the counterparty categories, customers and the nature of
the various funds under the available information collected at the date of application of the used model (e.g. income level, spendable
income level, guarantees for individual and customers, revenue, industry type, and other financial and non-financial indicators for
institutions). The Bank shall complete these indicators with a range of external data such as query reports from CBE, credit rating
companies on borrowers and reports of other domestic and foreign credit rating agencies. In addition that the models used by the Bank
shall allow the systematic assessment of experts by credit risk officers in the final internal credit rating, thus allowing for the
consideration of other matters and indicators that may not have been taken as part of the evaluation models and methods designed

internally or through external sources.

Credit rates shall be calibrated so that the risk of failure increases exponentially at each higher risk level. This means that the difference
in default rates between (A) degree and (- A) ratings shall be less than the difference in the default rates between the rating (B) and (-

B). The following are additional considerations for each type of Credit portfolios held by the Bank to be taken:

® Individuals, Retail Banking Products and Small and Micro Enterprises
After the date of initial recognition, the payment behavior of the borrower shall be monitored on an interim basis to calculate
a payment pattern. Any other known information about the borrower identified by the bank may affect the creditworthiness
such as unemployment rates and non-payment precedents as they shall be included to measure the repayment pattern, and

accordingly, default rates shall be determined for each payment method measurement.

® large and Medium Enterprises

The rating shall be determined atthe borrower / group level with similar credit risk, and any updated or new credit information
or assessments shall be included in the credit system on a continuous and interim basis. In addition, information on the
creditworthiness of the borrower / groups with similar credit risk shall periodically be updated from other sources such as
financial statements and other published financial and non-financial data. This shall determine the degree of internal credit

rating updated and failure rates.
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® Debt Instruments issued by the Egyptian Government and CBE Debt instruments, Treasury Bills and Government
Bonds

- The Bank shall use external classifications of institutions that comply with the CBE's instructions to manage the credit risk for

debt instruments in the investment portfolio. These ratings shall be regular monitored and updated periodically. The default

rates associated with each rating shall be determined on the basis of rates achieved over the previous 12 months as published

by the rating agencies. The loss rate for government debt instruments and the central bank in local currency shall equal zero.

- The Bank's rating of creditworthiness of government debt instruments, where the primary measure of each rating category
gives a specific range of probability of default, is stable over time. The Bank shall comply with the internal rating categories
with the rating categories set by CBE. The rating methods shall be periodically re-calibrated and validated to reflect the most

recent projections in all the assumptions observed in fact.

4/1/2 Future Data Used in the Expected Loss Model

- Future data shall be used to determine whether there is a significant increase in the credit risk of financial instruments and the
estimated credit losses (ECL). The Bank management shall determine the key economic variables that affect the credit risk and
credit losses expected for each credit portfolio by analyzes of historical data. The economic variables and their impact are
different on both Probability of Default (PD) and the losses at default (Exposure at Default) (EAD) and Loss Given Default
(LGD) depending on the different financial asset. The Bank shall seek expert opinions regarding such assumptions and

estimations, if necessary.

- Risk departments and credit departments of the Bank shall make estimates of these economic variables on a quarterly basis
and shall identify better estimations for those variables over the next five years. And after five years the bank shall use method
of "Mean Reversion Approach" in estimating those variables over the remaining life of each financial asset and thus the long-
term variability of these economic variables to the level of the currently estimated averages or estimated growth averages for

the current period over a period of 2-5 years.

- In order to define impact of these economic variables on PD "Probability of Default”, "Exposure at Default” EAD and "Loss
Given Default” LGD, the Bank's management shall analyze the "Regression Analysis” in order to understand the historical

effects resulting from those variables on the default rates and the inputs used in calculating EAD and LGD.

- In addition to basic economic scenarios, the Bank's management shall make other possible scenarios, as well as, assumption-

specific scenario separately.

- The Bank's management shall conduct these economic scenarios for all important credit products in order to ensure that all
non- linarites variables are included. These scenarios, assumptions and their related characteristics shall be reviewed at the

balance sheet date.
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- Lifetime PD shall be used for both basic and other scenarios where the multiplication of each scenario is found with their
respective probabilities, as well as, supporting indicators and qualitative indicators. Based on the results of this study, an
estimate shall be made as to whether that financial asset is at the level of the first, second or third stage, on the basis of which
the determination of whether the expected credit loss (ECL) shall be calculated on a 12-month basis "month ECL-12 or

"Lifetime ECL".

- Expectations and probability of occurrence shall be subjected to highly uncertain degree as known for any economic
expectations, so actual results may differ significantly from those expected. The Bank shall conduct the best estimate of these
potential projections and shall make an analytical study of the unlinked and non-similar factors for the various credit portfolios

in order to arrive at appropriate scenarios for all possible scenarios.

Variable Economic Assumptions
Enterprise Portfolio

®  Gross domestic product (GDP)

Stock Exchange Market Index

Individuals' Portfolio

®  Gross domestic product (GDP)

"  Private consumption

Sensitivity Analysis

The main assumptions affecting the expected credit loss provision (ECL) shall be as follows:

Individuals and Institutions Portfolio

The following shall represent the most important sensitivity analysis used to estimate the expected credit losses as at 315 March 2019:

- Atleastthree scenarios shall be conducted to study future forecasts and to determine theirimpact on the variables of the expected

credit loss measurement model. These scenarios shall represent:

- (Basic Scenario) normal scenario

- (Downside Scenario) - Worst scenario

- (Upside Scenario) - Best scenario

The calculation of the expected credit loss shall reflect, without any bias of the weighted probability value determined by Weighted

Scenario, the assessment of a range of expected results from reliance on the best or worst case scenarios.
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Classification of loss-related instruments measured on the basis of similar groups

Regarding Expected Credit Losses “ECL", groups are classified on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics, so that bank at risk is

homogenous. While executing this classification, it shall be taken into consideration that there is sufficient information to enable the

Bank to classify the Bank with statistical credibility. Moreover, in the absence of sufficient information, the Bank takes into account

complementary internal / external reference data. The following are examples of those characteristics and any supplementary data

that are used to determine the classification:

Retail Financing - Groups are formed as per:

Loan to asset value ratio (for financing to purchase assets)
Or credit rating
Or product type (such as housing / real estate mortgage purchase, overdraft, credit card, car financing)

Payment type (repayment of asset + yield /yield only) or used ratio of the authorized limit

Corporate financing - Groups are formed as per:

Industry
Or type of guarantees
Or credit rating

Or geographical area of vulnerability

4/1/3 Credit risk exposure:

A- Maximum credit at risk - Financial instruments subject to impairment

The table below includes an analysis of the maximum limit exposed to credit risk of financial instruments for which the Expected Credit

Losses “ECL” has been recognized.

-47 -



@ Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB) — Egypt — S.A.E

Translation of consolidated Financial Statements originally issued in Arabic

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements For The Period Ended 31 March 2019

The following table shows the total book value of financial assets below and the maximum limit for credit risk exposure on these

financial assets.

LE000's

Stage One Stage Two Stage Three Toral
31March 2019 Month 12 Lifetime Lifetime
Creditworthiness according to the classification
of the Central Bank
Good debts 10,963,133 94967 93,694 11,151,794
Regular follow-up 76,858 211,961 - 288,819
Special follow up - 51,096 - 51,096
Bad debts = = 188,633 188,633
Toral 11,039,991 358,024 282,327 11,680,342
Impairment losses provision is deducted (52,432) (65,729) (136,082) (254,243)
Interestin suspense is deducted (1,841) (812) (31,086) (33,739)
Deferred profitis deducted (4,090,6553) (64,511) (25,419) (4,180,585)
Book value 6,895,063 226,972 89,740 7,211,775

**The second and third stages include some debts that have been organized and have not fulfilled yet all the conditions for

promotion of the abovementioned stage.

LEOOD's
Corporate
Stage One Stage Two Stage Three
Total

31March 2019 Month 12 Lifetime Lifetime

Creditworthiness according to the dlassification of the Central Bank

Good debts 10,208,906 7,148 10,216,054
Regular follow-up 8611435 182,193 34277 8,827,905
Special follow up 463,598 463,598
Bad debts 486,002 486,002
Total 18,820,341 652,039 520,279 19,993,559
Impairment losses provision is deducted (527,296) (97187) (254618) (879,101)
Interest in suspense is deducted (68) (4) (976) (1,048)
Deferred profitis deducted (21132) (6,669) (105) (27,906)
Bookvalue 18,271,845 549,079 264,580 19,085,504
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B- Credit guarantees

- TheBank uses a set of policies and practices to reduce credit risk. The most applicable is the acceptance of guarantees for debt
instruments and financing commitments. The Bank has internal policies concerning the categories of guarantees that can be
accepted to reduce or decrease credit risk.

- TheBank prepares an assessment of the guarantees that have been obtained when financing is established and this assessment

is reviewed periodically. The main types of guarantees for financing are:

®  (Cash and cash equivalents

®  Real estate mortgages.

®  Margin agreement for derivatives concluded with the Bank as part of major clearing agreements.
®  Commercial mortgages.

®  Financial instruments mortgage such as debt instruments and equity instruments.

- Guarantees held as security for financial assets other than financing and facilities depends on the nature of the instrument;
whereas debt securities, non-guaranteed generally government bonds & bills, except for asset-backed securities and similar

instruments secured by financial instrument portfolios, and derivatives are often secured.

- TheBank's policies have not changed significantly related to obtaining guarantees during the period / year and there has been

no change in the quality of the guarantees held by the Bank as compared to the previous fiscal year.

- The Bank closely controls the guarantees held for financial assets with low credit value, as it is likely that the Bank will retain

guarantees to mitigate potential credit losses.
4/1/4 Amendments to the terms of financing and re-scheduling

- TheBanksometimes adjusts the terms of financing submitted to customers due to trade re-negotiation or non-performing loans
in order to maximize recovery opportunities. These restructuring activities include arrangements to extend the repayment
period, grace periods, exemption from payment or some/or of the interests. Moreover, restructuring policies and practices are
based on indicators or criteria that indicate - in management's estimation - that payment will likely continue. These policies

remain under constant review.

- The Bank continues to monitor whether there is a significant increase in credit risk with respect to those assets through the use

of specific models for the adjusted assets.
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4/1/5 Risk minimization or avoidance policies
The Bank manages, limits and controls the concentration of credit risk at the level of the debtor, groups, industries and countries.

It regulates the levels of credit risk it accepts, with limits on the amount of risk to be accepted at the level of each borrower, or group of
borrowers, and at the level of economic activities and geographical sectors. These risks are controlled on an ongoing basis and are
subject to annual or frequent review if necessary. Limits of credit risk shall be approved at borrower, bank, producer, sector and state

levels by the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis.

The credit limits of any borrower, including banks, are subdivided into amounts within and outside the financial position and the daily

risk limit for trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual amounts are compared with daily limits.

Credit risk is also managed by interim analysis of potential borrowers and potential borrowers to meet their obligations as well as

adjusting lending limits where appropriate
Here are some ways to reduce risk:
Guarantees

The Bank sets out many policies and controls to reduce the risk of credit. These include securing guarantees against borrowed cash.

The Bank establishes guidelines for specific categories of acceptable guarantees.
Main types of financing and facilities guarantees include:

®  Cashand cash equivalents
®  Real estate mortgages.
®  Commercial mortgages.

®  Financial instruments mortgage such as debt instruments and equity instruments.

Long-term financing and corporate lending are often secured, while credit facilities for individuals are without guarantee. To reduce
credit loss to a minimum, the Bank seeks additional guarantees from the parties concerned and when the indicators of impairme nt of

one of the financing or facilities

Guarantees taken to secure assets other than financing and facilities are determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt instruments
and treasury bills are usually unsecured except for asset-backed securities and similar instruments secured by a portfolio of financial

instruments
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Commitments related to credit

Credit granting commitments represent the part that is used to grant financing, guarantees, or letter of credits. The Bank is exposed to
a potential risk of an amount equal to gross unutilized commitments in respect of the credit risk arising from the credit granting
commitments. The amount of potential loss actually is less than the unutilized commitments since most of the commitments related
to the granting of credit represent potential commitments to customers with specific credit. The Bank monitors the due date of credit

commitments because long-term commitments usually carry a higher degree of credit risk than short-term commitments
4/1/6 Impairment and provisions policies

The above-mentioned evaluation systems focus largely on credit quality planning from the beginning of the validation of financing and
investment activities. Otherwise, only impairment losses recognized on the date of the financial statements are recognized for financial
reporting purpose on the basis of objective evidence indicating the impairment that occurred on the date of the financial statements
based on objective evidence indicating impairment as stated in this note. Due to the different methods applied, credit losses charged
to the financial statements are usually less than the estimated loss using the expected loss model used for the Central Bank of Egypt

rules.

Provisions of impairment losses in the financial statements at the end of the period is derived from the four internal ratings. However,
the majority of the provision is produced by the last rating. The following table shows the percentage of items in the financial

statements ended 31 March 2019 relating to the related financing and facilities and impairment of each of the Bank's internal rating

categories:

31March 2019

Financing and Impairment losses

Bank's evaluation facilities provision
Stage One 94.3% 51.2%
Stage Two 3.2% 14.4%
Stage Three 2.5% 34.5%

100.0% 100.0%
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Internal evaluation instruments help management in determining whether there is objective evidence that there is impairment in

accordance with Egyptian Accounting Standard No. 26 and based on the following indicators identified by the Bank:

® Significant financial difficulties facing the client or the debtor.

®  Violation of the terms of the financing agreement such as non-payment.

®  The clientis expected to be bankrupt or enter into a call to liquidate or restructure the financing given to him.

® The deterioration of the competitive position of the client.

® The Bank, for economic or legal reasons, causes the client financial difficulties by granting him concessions or concessions
which the Bank may not agree to grant under normal circumstances.

® Impairment of the value of the guarantee.

® Deteriorating credit situation

The Bank's policies require the review of all financial assets that exceed at least one relative annually or more when circumstances so
require. The impairment burden is determined on individually assessed accounts by assessing the loss achieved on the date of the
financial statements on a case-by-case basis, on all accounts of relative importance. The evaluation usually includes existing guarantee,

including a reassertion of the guarantee performance and expected collections from those accounts.

Charging for impairment losses provision is made on a group basis of homogeneous assets using available historical experience,

personal judgment and statistical methods.
4/1/7 General Banking Risk Measurement Model

In addition to the Bank's four internal rating categories described above, the management classifies loans and facilities in the form of
more detailed sub-groups in line with the requirements of the Central Bank of Egypt. The assets exposed to credit at risk in these groups
are classified according to detailed rules and conditions that rely heavily on information related to customer's business, financial

position and regularity of payment.

The Bank calculates the provisions required to offset the impairment of assets exposed to credit risk, including credit-related
commitments, on the basis of ratios set by the Central Bank of Egypt. In case of increase in impairment losses provision required in
accordance with the credit rating rules of the Central Bank of Egypt for the provision required to use the expected credit losses, the

increase in the provision shall be deducted as a general banking risk reserve in equity against retained earnings.

The following is a description of credit rating of the institutions according to the criteria for determining the creditworthiness of the
customers in accordance with the instructions of the Central Bank of Egypt in this regard and the percentage of provisions required for

the impairment of assets exposed to credit risk:
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CBE CBE rating description Required Internal  Internal rating description
rating provision % rating
1 Low risk Zero 1 Good debts
2 Moderate risk 1% 1 Good debts
3 Sarisfactory risk 1% 1 Good debts
4 Appropriate risk 2% 1 Good debts
5 Acceptable risk 2% 1 Good debts
6 Marginally acceptable risk 3% 2 Regular Follow up
7 Risk needs special attention 5% 3 Special Follow up
8 Substandard 20% 4 Non performing financing
9 Doubtful debts 50% 4 Non performing financing
10 Bad debts 100% 4 Non performing financing
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4/1/8 Maximum limit for credit risk before guarantees

31 March 2019 31 December 2013

Balance sheet items exposed to credit risk LE 000°'s LE 000's

Loans and facilities to banks and customers

Facilities to banks 260,415 269,438
Retail loans
Debit current accounts 2,852 2,759
Credit cards 384834 418,615
Personal financing 6,823,977 6,368,111
Real estate financing 10 10
Corporate loans
Debit current accounts 4,682,131 4,131,816
Credit cards 103 130
Directﬁnancing 13,883,957 12,512,739
Syndicated financing 519314 586,321
Financial investments
Debtinstruments are valued at fair value through

5,365,002 5,872,187
other comprehensive income
Debtinstruments valued at amortized cost 10,544,372 10,902,222
Tortal 42, 467,067 41,064,348
Off balance sheet items exposed to creditrisk
Letter of credits (Import + confirmed export) 6,304,873 3,821,116
Letterofguarantees 2,693,891 2270018
Documentary credit 2,001,827 2,529,298
Bank guarantees 757,280 790,514
Tortal 11,817,871 11,410,946

The above table represents the maximum exposure limitas at 31 March 2019, without taking into account any guarantees. For financial

position items, Amounts incorporated are based on the net book value presented in the financial position.
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